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Appendix B 
Relevant Immigration Decisions 
 
This appendix contains the following unpublished decisions by the Board of Immigration 

Appeals concerning immigration consequences of North Carolina criminal convictions.  

 

Matter of X-X-X-, A 090 764 102 (BIA Mar. 28, 2014) B-2 
(holding that assault on a female is not a crime of domestic violence  

or a crime involving moral turpitude) 

 

Matter of Garcia Olvera (BIA Mar. 25, 2015) B-7 
(holding that a conviction under G.S. 90-95(a)(1) for delivery or  

possession with intent to deliver marijuana is not a drug trafficking  

aggravated felony) 

 

Matter of V-M-B-B-, A XXX XXX 723 (BIA Mar. 27, 2015) B-14 
(holding that a conviction under G.S. 90-95(h)(3) for trafficking by  

possession is not a drug trafficking aggravated felony)  

 



B-2



B-3



B-4



B-5



B-6



U.S. Department of Justice 

Executive Office for Immigration Review 

Board of Immigration Appeals 
Office of the Clerk 

5107 leesburg Pike. Suite 2000 
Falls Church, Virginia 20530 

Michael Christian Urbina-Pabon, Esquire 
The Urbina Law Firm, LLC 

OHS/ICE Office of Chief Counsel - SOC 
146 CCA Road, P.O.Box 248 

P.O. BOX 70 Lumpkin, GA 31815 
Acworth, GA 30101 

Name:   

Date of this notice: 3/25/2015 

Enclosed is a copy of the Board's decision and order in the above-referenced case. 

Enclosure 

Panel Members: 
Greer, Anne J. 
Pauley, Roger 
Geller, Joan B 

Sincerely, 

DOYUtL c t1AA) 

Donna Carr 
Chief Clerk 

Userteam: Docket 

For more unpublished BIA decisions, visit 
www.irac.net/unpublished/index
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GARCIA OLVERA, MIGUEL 
 

STEWART DETENTION CENTER 
146 CCA ROAD 
P.O. BOX 248 
LUMPKIN, GA 31815 

Name: GARCIA OLVERA, MIGUEL 

U.S. Department of Justice 

Executive Office for Immigration Review 

Board of Immigration Appeals 
Office of the Clerk 

5107 Leesburg Pike. Suite 2000 
Falls Church, Virginia 20530 

OHS/ICE Office of Chief Counsel - SOC 
146 CCA Road, P.O.Box 248 
Lumpkin, GA 31815 

 

Date of this notice: 3/25/2015 

Enclosed is a copy of the Board's decision in the above-referenced case. This copy is being 
provided to you as a courtesy. Your attorney or representative has been served with this 
decision pursuant to 8 C.F.R. § 1292.S(a). If the attached decision orders that you be 
removed from the United States or affirms an Immigration Judge's decision ordering that you 
be removed, any petition for review of the attached decision must be filed with and received 
by the appropriate court of appeals within 30 days of the date of the decision. 

Enclosure 

Panel Members: 
Greer, Anne J. 
Pauley, Roger 
Geller, Joan B 

Sincerely, 

Donna Carr 
Chief Clerk 
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U.S. Department of Justice 
Executive Office for Immigration Review 

Falls Church, Virginia 20530 

File:  - Lumpkin, GA 

In re: MIGUEL GARCIA OLVERA 

IN REMOVAL PROCEEDINGS 

APPEAL 

Decision of the Board of Immigration Appeals 

Date: 

MAR 2 5 2015 

ON BEHALF OF RESPONDENT: Michael Christian Urbina-Pabon, Esquire 

ON BEHALF OF DHS: FayazHabib 
Assistant Chief Counsel 

CHARGE: 

Notice: Sec. 237(a)(2)(A)(iii), I&N Act [8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2)(A)(iii)] -
Convicted of aggravated felony 

APPLICATION: Termination 

The respondent appeals from an Immigration Judge's December 3, 2014, decision ordering 
him removed from the United States. The Department of Homeland Security ("DHS") opposes 
the appeal. The appeal will be sustained and the removal proceedings will be terminated. 

The respondent is a native and citizen of Mexico and a lawful permanent resident of the 
United States. In 1999 the respondent was convicted in North Carolina of possessing marijuana 
with intent to manufacture, sell, or deliver, a felony violation of section 90-9S(a)(l) of the 
North Carolina General Statutes (hereinafter "§ 90-9S(a)(l)") for which he was sentenced to an 
indeterminate term of imprisonment of 4-6 months. The question on appeal is whether that 
conviction renders the respondent removable under section 237(a)(2)(A)(iii) of the Immigration 
and Nationality Act, 8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2)(A)(iii), as an alien convicted of an "aggravated 
felony." Upon de novo review, we conclude that it does not. 

The term "aggravated felony" is defined to include "illicit trafficking in a controlled 
substance (as defined in section 802 of Title 21), including a drug trafficking crime (as defined in 
section 924(c) of Title 18)." Section 101(a)(43)(B) of the Act, 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(43)(B). The 
phrase "illicit trafficking" refers to "any state, federal, or qualified foreign felony conviction 
involving the unlawful trading or dealing" in a controlled substance as defined by Federal law. 
Matter of L-G-H-, 26 I&N Dec. 365, 368 (BIA 2014) (citations omitted). However, an offense 
that does not involve unlawful ''trading or dealing" within the meaning of the "illicit trafficking" 
concept may nonetheless qualify as an aggravated felony if it is a "drug trafficking crime" under 
18 U.S.C. § 924(c); that is, a felony punishable under the Federal Controlled Substances Act 
("CSA"), 21 U.S.C. § 802 et seq. A state drug offense qualifies as a "drug trafficking crime" 
only if it corresponds categorically to an offense punishable by a maximum term of 
imprisonment of more than 1 year under the CSA. Moncrieffe v. Holder, 133 S. Ct. 1678, 1683 
(2013). 
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In 1999, when the respondent committed his offense and sustained his conviction, 
§ 90-95(a)(l) provided that "it is unlawful for any person . . .  [t]o manufacture, sell or deliver, or 
possess with intent to manufacture, sell or deliver, a controlled substance." According to the 
North Carolina Supreme Court, § 90-95(a)(l) establishes three distinct offenses: 
"(I) manufacture of a controlled substance, (2) transfer of a controlled substance by sale or 
delivery, and (3) possession with intent to manufacture, sell or deliver a controlled substance." 
State v. Moore, 395 S.E.2d 124, 126 (N.C. 1990). A "sale" is defined as "a transfer of property 
for a specified price payable in money" while a delivery is "the actual [sic] constructive, or 
attempted transfer from one person to another of a controlled substance[.]" Id. at 382, 395 
S.E.2d at 127 (citations and quotations omitted). 

In 1999, violations of§ 90-95(a)(l) carried different maximum sentences depending upon the 
identity of the substance involved and the nature of the underlying offense conduct. A violation 
of § 90-95(a)(l) involving a remunerative "sale" of marijuana (a schedule VI controlled 
substance under North Carolina law) was punishable as a class H felony while a violation 
involving manufacture or non-remunerative "delivery" of marijuana was punishable as a class I 
felony, unless the violation involved "[t]he transfer of less than 5 grams of marijuana for no 
remuneration," in which case it was not to be treated as a "delivery" at all. N.C. Gen. Stat. 

§ 90-95(b)(2) (1999). Finally, offenses involving the manufacture, sale, delivery, or possession 
of more than 10 pounds of marijuana were chargeable as discrete offenses under § 90-95(h) and 
were punished more severely than violations of§ 90-95(a)(l ). 

To determine whether a violation of § 90-95(a)(l) qualifies as a categorical aggravated 
felony under section 101(a)(43)(B), we ask whether the "minimum conduct" that has a "realistic 
probability" of being successfully prosecuted under the statute corresponds to the "illicit 
trafficking" or "drug trafficking crime" definitions. See Moncrieffe v. Holder, supra, at 1684-85. 
The "minimum conduct" punishable under § 90-95(a) is possession of 5 grams of marijuana with 
intent to "deliver" without remuneration. The Immigration Judge found that § 90-95(a)(l) 
defines a categorical "drug trafficking crime" under 18 U.S.C. § 924(c) because possession of 
5 grams of marijuana with the intent to deliver corresponds to conduct punishable by up to 
5 years in prison under 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(l) and 841(b)(l)(D). We respectfully disagree. 

As the Moncrieffe Court determined, and as the Immigration Judge acknowledged, 
possession of a "small amount" of marijuana for "no remuneration" is punishable as a federal 
misdemeanor under. 21 U.S.C. § 84l(b)(4). In Matter of Castro Rodriguez, 25 I&N Dec. 698, 
703 (BIA 2012), we noted that the phrase "small amount" was not statutorily defined but 
concluded that 30 grams was a "useful guidepost" for immigration cases because Congress has 
employed that quantity throughout the Act as a threshold for identifying which marijuana 
offenses should give rise to immigration consequences and which should not. According to the 
Immigration Judge, the 30-gram guidepost discussed in Matter of Castro Rodriguez was merely 
advisory rather than "dispositive," and thus he elected to invoke North Carolina's 5-gram 
threshold instead. We reverse. 

It is true that the 30-gram threshold described in Castro Rodriguez is a guidepost rather than 
an inflexible standard. As federal courts interpreting 21 U.S.C. § 841(b)(4) have recognized, 

2 

Im
m

igrant &
 Refugee A

ppellate C
enter | w

w
w

.irac.net

Cite as: Miguel Garcia Olvera,  (BIA March 25, 2015)

B-10



. r· 

 

whether a quantity of marijuana is "small" can depend upon context-Le., 5 grams of marijuana 
may not be a "small amount" if it is delivered in a prison or to a child. See, e.g., United States 
v. Carmichael, 155 F.3d 561 (4th Cir. 1998) (Table) (upholding district court's determination 
that 1.256 grams of marijuana is not a "small amount" under 21 U.S.C. § 84l(b)(4) when 
distributed in a prison). Thus, we do not discount the possibility that some cases may present 
principled reasons for departing from Castro Rodriguez's 30-gram threshold. However, the 
Immigration Judge identified no such principled reasons here, and thus we disagree with his 
decision to treat 5 grams of marijuana as a non-"small" amount.1 

The language of§ 90-95(a)(l) leaves open the possibility that defendants may be convicted 
for possessing 30 grams or less of marijuana with the intent to deliver without remuneration. 
That possibility is not dispositive of the aggravated felony question, however, because the 
categorical approach is concerned not with the minimum conduct that could theoretically be 
prosecuted under the statute of conviction, but rather with the minimum conduct that has a 
"realistic probability" of actually being successfully prosecuted thereunder. See Moncrieffe 
v. Holder, supra, at 1684-85 (explaining that "our focus on the minimum conduct criminalized 
by the state statute is not an invitation to apply 'legal imagination' to the state offense; there 
must be 'a realistic probability, not a theoretical possibility, that the State would apply its statute 
to conduct that falls outside the generic definition of a crime."') (citing Gonzales 
v. Duenas-Alvarez, 549 U.S. 183, 193 (2007)). 

To demonstrate the requisite "realistic probability" here, the evidence must reflect that 
North Carolina actually prosecutes defendants under § 90-95(a)(l) for possessing 30 grams or 
less of marijuana with intent to deliver. Accord Moncrieffe v. Holder, supra, at 1693; Gonzales 
v. Duenas-Alvarez, supra, at 193. The respondent has carried his burden of proof in that regard 
because in State v. Blackburn, 239 S.E.2d 626, 629-30 (N.C. Ct. App. 1977), the North Carolina 
Court of Appeals upheld a § 90-95(a)(l) conviction in which the jury found that the defendant 
possessed 14 grams of marijuana with intent to deliver. As the minimum conduct that has a 
realistic probability of being successfully prosecuted under § 90-95(a)(l) is possession of less 
than 30 grams of marijuana with the intent to deliver without remuneration, that offense 
corresponds categorically to the federal misdemeanor offense described in 21 U.S.C. § 84l(b)(4), 

1 Although Moncrieffe did not adopt a test for evaluating whether or not a particular amount of 
marijuana is "small" within the meaning of 21 U.S.C. § 841(b)(4), the Supreme Court's decision 
does provide some guidance on the question. Specifically, in support of its determination that 
Mr. Moncrieffe's statute of conviction-Ga. Code § 16-13-30G)(l�ncompassed the 
distribution of "small amounts" of marijuana, the Court relied upon Taylor v. State, 581 S.E.2d 
386, 388 (Ga. App. Ct. 2003), in which a defendant was convicted for possessing 6.6 grams of 
marijuana with intent to distribute. See Moncrieffe v. Holder, supra, at 1686. The Moncrieffe 
Court's determination that 6.6 grams of marijuana is a "small amount" is irreconcilable with the 
Immigration Judge's determination that 5 grams is not. 
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which in turn means that it is not a categorical aggravated felony.2 The Immigration Judge's 
contrary determination will be reversed. 

Having determined that § 90-95(a)(l) does not define a categorical aggravated felony under 
section 10l(a)(43)(B) of the Act, we now turn to the separate question whether§ 90-95(a)(l) is 
"divisible" vis-a-vis the aggravated felony definition, such that the Immigration Judge may 
conduct a "modified categorical" inquiry into the respondent's conviction records to determine 
whether his particular conviction was for possession of more than 30 grams of marijuana with 
intent to deliver. According to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, in 
whose jurisdiction this case arises, "a divisible statute is one that 'sets out one or more elements 
of the offense in the alternative"' and in which at least one (but not all) of those alternative 
elements (or sets of elements) categorically matches the "generic" federal offense to which it 
must correspond. United States v. Estrella, 758 F.3d 1239, 1244-45 (11th Cir. 20 14) (quoting in 
part Descamps v. United States, 133 S. Ct. 2276, 2281, 2283 (2013)). 

Section 90-95(a)(l) is phrased in the disjunctive, defining three discrete offenses; 
(1) manufacture of a controlled substance, (2) transfer of a controlled substance by sale or 
delivery, and (3) possession with intent to manufacture, sell or deliver a controlled substance. 
State v. Moore, 395 S.E.2d 124, 126 (N.C. 1990). The first alternative defined by§ 90-95(a)(l), 
i.e., "manufacturing" a controlled substance, may well correspond categorically to the analogous 
federal felony offense defined under 21 U.S.C. § 84l(a){l). However, the second and third 
alternatives defined by§ 90-95(a)(l) do not correspond categorically to federal felonies because 
of their potential applicability to offenses involving distribution (or possession with intent to 
distribute) small amounts of marijuana for no remuneration. Under the circumstances, we 
conclude that it would be permissible for the Immigration Judge to conduct a modified 
categorical inquiry in order to determine which of the three alternative offenses the respondent 
was convicted of committing. As it is undisputed that the respondent was convicted of 
possession of marijuana with intent to deliver rather than manufacturing, such a modified 
categorical inquiry would not establish the respondent's removability. 

Section 90-95(b)(2) also contains language which arguably makes § 90-95(a){l) divisible. 
Specifically, by establishing that a transfer of less than 5 grams of marijuana for no remuneration 
does not qualify as a "delivery,"§ 90-95(b)(2) could be viewed as effectively adding a minimum 
quantity "element" to any marijuana "delivery" charge; that is, a North Carolina prosecutor who 
charges a defendant with violating§ 90-95(a)(l) on the basis of a non-remunerative "delivery" of 
marijuana would need to prove to the jury beyond a reasonable doubt that the transfer involved 
5 grams or more of marijuana. See State v. Land, 733 S.E.2d 588, 592 (N.C. Ct. App. 2012), 
affd, 742 S.E.2d 803 (2013) (explaining that "the State can, under . . . § 90-95(b)(2), prove 

2 As § 90-95(a) encompasses the non-remunerative delivery of marijuana, moreover, it is not an 
"illicit trafficking" offense under section 10l(a)(43)(B). See Matter of L-G-H-, supra, at 371-72 
& n. 9 (explaining that "to meet the definition of 'illicit trafficking under the Act, the offense 
must involve a commercial transaction," i.e., a "passing of goods from one person to another for 
money or other consideration.") 
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delivery of marijuana by presenting evidence either (1) of a transfer of five or more grams of 
marijuana, or (2) of a transfer of less than five grams of marijuana for remuneration."). 

The existence of such a minimum quantity element would not make§ 90-95(a)(l) divisible 
vis-a-vis section 101(a)(43)(B), however, because for the reasons stated in Moncrieffe not all 
offenses involving possession of 5 grams or more of marijuana with intent to deliver would 
correspond to federal felonies under the CSA. Although a North Carolina jury may sometimes 
need to agree that a defendant delivered 5 grams or more of marijuana, it would never need to 
agree about the extent to which the amount exceeded 5 grams, nor would it need to find that the 
amount exceeded 30 grams-the default "small amount" threshold for immigration cases. 

In view of the foregoing, we conclude that§ 90-95(a)(l) is neither a categorical aggravated 
felony under section 10l(a)(43)(B) nor divisible in any manner which would serve to support the 
respondent's removability. Accordingly, the removal charge under section 237(a)(2)(A)(iii) of 
the Act will be dismissed. The DHS has not lodged any other removal charges against the 
respondent, moreover, and therefore the removal proceedings will be terminated. 

ORDER: The appeal is sustained and the removal proceedings are terminated. 
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Winograd, Benjamin Ross 
Immigrant & Refugee Appellate Center 
3602 Forest Drive 
Alexandria, VA 22302 

Name: B -B , V  M  .•. 

U.S. Departm�r ... of Justice 
l 

Executive Office for Immigration Review 

Board of Immigration Appeals 
Office of the Clerk 

5 J 07 Leesburg Pike, Suite 2000 
Falls Church, Virginia 20530 

OHS/ICE Office of Chief Counsel -ATL 
180 Spring Street, Suite 332 
Atlanta, GA 30303 

A 723 

Date of this notice: 3/27/2015 

Enclosed is a copy of the Board's decision and order in the above-referenced case. 

Enclosure 

Panel Members: 
Greer, Anne J. 
Pauley, Roger 
Guendelsberger, John 

Sincerely, 

Donna Carr 
Chief Clerk 

Userteam: Docket 

For more unpublished BIA decisions, visit 
www.irac.net/unpublished/index
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U.S. Department of Justice 
Executive Office for Immigration Review 

Decision of the Board of Immigration Appeals 

Falls Church, Virginia 20530 

File:   723 - Atlanta, GA Date: MAR 2 7 2015 

In re: V   B -B   

IN REMOVAL PROCEEDINGS 

APPEAL 

ON BEHALF OF RESPONDENT: Ben Winograd, Esquire1 

ON BEHALF OF DHS: Gene P. Hamilton 
Assistant Chief Counsel 

CHARGE: 

Notice: Sec. 237(a)(2)(A)(iii), I&N Act [8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2)(A)(iii)] -
Convicted of aggravated felony (illicit trafficking offense) 

Sec. 237(a)(2)(A)(iii), I&N Act [8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2)(A)(iii)] -
Convicted of aggravated felony (attempt or conspiracy offense) 

Lodged: Sec. 237(a)(2)(B)(i), I&N Act [8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2)(B)(i)] -
Convicted of controlled substance violation 

APPLICATION: Cancellation of removal 

The Department of Homeland Security (DHS) appeals from the decision of the Immigration 
Judge, dated March 5, 2014, finding the respondent removable on the lodged charge, and 
granting the respondent's application for cancellation of removal under section 240A(a) of the 
Immigration and Nationality Act, 8 U.S.C. § 1229b(a), in the exercise of discretion (1.J. at 4-7).2 

The respondent, a native and citizen of Venezuela, opposes the appeal, which will be dismissed. 
The record will be remanded to permit DHS to conduct the necessary background and security 
checks. 

The Immigration Judge held that DHS carried its burden of proof to show that the respondent 
was removable under section 237(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Act, 8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2)(B)(i), but that it 
had not done so with respect to the charges under section 237(a)(2)(A)(iii) of the Act (1.J. at 1-4). 

1 We acknowledge and appreciate the pro bono representation of counsel before us in this case. 

2 The Immigration Judge also denied the respondent's applications for asylum, withholding of 
removal, and protection under the Convention Against Torture, which we need not address given 
our disposition of the case (l.J. at 7-8). 
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 723 

The Immigration Judge granted cancellation of removal, concluding the respondent was 
statutorily eligible for such relief, and that a grant was warranted in discretion (I.J. at 4-7). 

On appeal, DHS argues that it established the respondent's removability under section 
237(a)(2)(A)(iii) of the Act by clear and convincing evidence, asserting the respondent's 
conviction was for an aggravated felony as defined by section 101(a)(43)(B) or (U) of the Act, 
8 U.S.C. §§ l 101(a)(43)(B), (U), and that the respondent is therefore statutorily ineligible for 
cancellation of removal (DHS Br. at 9-22). In the alternative, DHS argues the Immigration 
Judge should have denied cancellation of removal in the exercise of discretion (DHS Br. 22-27). 
DHS also argues the Immigration Judge erred in denying its motion to reconsider in which it 
asserted the "stop-time" rule at section 240A( d) of the Act rendered the respondent ineligible for 
cancellation of removal (DHS Br. at 27-37).3 

In opposition, the respondent asserts the Immigration Judge's decision to grant cancellation 
of removal should be sustained. He argues the Immigration Judge correctly held that he was not 
convicted of an aggravated felony as defined in section 101(a)(43)(B) of the Act, asserting his 
conviction was not categorically for an aggravated felony, and that DHS did not show the statute 
is divisible. He further asserts that, even applying the modified categorical approach, the record 
of conviction does not establish the conviction was for an aggravated felony (Resp't Br. at 9-
20). The respondent also argues the Immigration Judge correctly determined he merits a 
favorable exercise of discretion (Resp 't Br. at 20-26). 

On review, we agree with the Immigration Judge that DHS did not show that the 
respondent's 2011 conviction for trafficking in cocaine in violation of N.C. GEN. STAT. 
§ 90-95(h)(3) was categorically for an aggravated felony as defined in section 101(a)(43)(B) or 
(U) of the Act, because the statute only requires that an individual possess cocaine, and that DHS 
did not show that the modified categorical approach was applicable to this determination, 
because the statute is overbroad rather than divisible (I.J. at 2-4). 

With respect to the categorical approach, DHS asserts that the aggravated felony of "illicit 
trafficking in a controlled substance" defined in section 10l(a)(43)(B) of the Act includes other 
subsets of crimes in addition to "drug trafficking crimes," and, citing Matter of Davis, 20 I&N 
Dec . 536 (BIA 1992), that the Board has stated that other crimes fall within the "illicit 
trafficking" definition if they are a felony under state law, involve "unlawful trading and 
dealing," and involve a federally controlled substance (DHS Br. at 9-22). DHS argues that all 

3 In its appeal brief, DHS asserts that it simultaneously filed two Notices of Appeal, one 
pertaining to an appeal from the Immigration Judge's March 5, 2014, merits decision, and one 
pertaining to the Immigration Judge's March 18, 2014, motion decision, but that the Board only 
issued one briefing schedule (DHS Br. at l, 8). Upon review, however, we find the record does 
not reflect that an appeal was filed from the March 18, 2014, motion decision. Accordingly, we 
agree with the respondent that the March 18, 2014, denial of the DHS' motion for 
reconsideration is not properly before us because the DHS has not separately appealed from that 
decision (Resp't Br. at 26-27). See Matter of G-A-, 23 I&N Dec. 366, 367 n.l (BIA 2002). 
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conduct that can be prosecuted under N.C. GEN. STAT. § 90-95(h)(3) satisfies all three 
requirements, including the requirement that the offense involve "unlawful trading and dealing," 
because the "statutory scheme infers an intent to traffic from the large quantity of cocaine" (DHS 
Br. at 14-15). 

We agree with the Immigration Judge and the respondent that the statute of conviction is not 
categorically an aggravated felony. As the Immigration Judge held and as the respondent argues, 
N.C. GEN. STAT. § 90-95(h)(3) criminalizes simple possession of 28 grams or more of cocaine, 
which does not involve the element of illicit trafficking, and which is not a felony under the 
Controlled Substances Act (I.J. at 2-4; Resp't Br. at 9-11). As the respondent asserts, the 
relevant inquiry is not whether the statute "infers an intent to traffic" (DHS Br. at 14-15), but 
what the conviction necessarily entails. The United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth 
Circuit has held that not all violations of this statute involve such an "intent to distribute." See 
United States v. Brandon, 247 F.3d 186, 195 (4th Cir. 2001) ("[I]t cannot fairly be said that an 
intent to distribute is inherent in all violations of N.C. GEN. STAT. § 90--95(h)."). Moreover, 
DHS conceded below that the offense was not categorically an aggravated felony (Tr. at 17-18). 
Finally, as the respondent asserts, simple possession is a misdemeanor and not a felony under the 
Controlled Substances Act. See Lopez v. Gonzales, 549 U.S. 47, 60 (2006). 

With respect to the modified categorical approach, DHS argues that, even if not all conduct 
covered under the statute satisfies Matter of Davis, the statute "is clearly divisible because it is 
drafted in the alternative" (DHS Br. at 15 n.9). DHS asserts that the modified categorical 
approach shows the respondent's offense involved at least 400 grams of cocaine, which "evinces 
an intent to distribute" under state law, notwithstanding United States v. Brandon, supra (DHS 
Br. at 16-19). Further, DHS argues the offense constitutes a "drug trafficking crime" as defined 
in 18 U.S.C. § 924(c) because the offense would have been penalized under the distribution 
rather than the simple possession provisions of the Controlled Substances Act, although the state 
statute does not have a mens rea element (DRS Br. at 20-22). 

We also agree with the Immigration Judge and the respondent that the statute of conviction is 
overbroad and indivisible. As the respondent asserts, DHS did not produce authority 
establishing that the statute contains alternative elements upon which a jury must unanimously 
agree in order to convict, rather than alternative means of committing the offense (Resp't Br. 
at 11-12). See Descamps v. United States, 133 S.Ct. 2276 (2013); Matter of Chairez (Chairez[), 
26 I&N Dec. 349 (BIA 2014).4 Further, to the extent DHS argues the amount of cocaine at issue 

4 The Board recently issued a new decision in Matter of Chairez (Chairez II), 26 I&N Dec. 478 
(BIA 2015), in which we observed that, because Immigration Judges must follow the law of the 
circuit court of appeals in whose jurisdiction they sit in evaluating issues of divisibility, the 
interpretation of Descamps v. United States, 133 S.Ct. 2276 (2013), reflected in Matter of 
Chairez, 26 I&N Dec. 349 (BIA 2014), applies only insofar as there is no controlling authority to 
the contrary in the relevant circuit. In United States v. Estrella, the Eleventh Circuit agreed with 
the Board's jury unanimity approach. 758 F.3d 1239, 1245-46 (11th Cir. 2014) ("[I]f the 
statutory scheme is not such that it would typically require the jury to agree to convict on the 

(continued . . .  ) 
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"evinces an intent to distribute," we observe that such an inference would not satisfy the 
requirement that a jury unanimously "agree to convict on the basis of one alternative as opposed 
to the other." See United States v. Estrella, 758 F.3d 1239, 1245-46 (I Ith Cir. 2014). 
Accordingly, we agree with the Immigration Judge that the 2011 conviction did not render the 
respondent removable under section 237(a)(2)(A)(iii) of the Act or ineligible for cancellation of 
removal under section 240A(b )(I)( C) of the Act. 

We are also not persuaded by DHS 's appellate contention that the Immigration Judge should 
have denied the respondent's application for cancellation of removal under section 240A(a) of 
the Act in the exercise of discretion (DRS Br. 22-27). DHS argues the Immigration Judge did 
not properly balance the relevant factors, asserting that the Immigration Judge should have 
required additional corroboration, should have found that the respondent's conviction was for a 
"serious crime," and should not have found that the respondent demonstrated rehabilitation. 

In exercising discretion, an Immigration Judge, upon review of the record as a whole, "must 
balance the adverse factors evidencing the alien's undesirability as a permanent resident with the 
social and humane considerations presented in his (or her) behalf to determine whether the 
granting of ...  relief appears in the best interest of this country." Matter of C-V-T-, 22 I&N 
Dec. 7, 11 (BIA 1998) (holding that the general standards developed in Matter of Marin, 16 I&N 
Dec. 581, 584-85 {BIA 1978), for the exercise of discretion under section 212(c) of the Act, 
8 U.S.C. § 1182(c), are applicable to the exercise of discretion under section 240A(a) of the 
Act)). 

Favorable considerations include such factors as family ties within the United States, 
residence of long duration in this country (particularly when the inception of residence occurred 
at a young age), evidence of hardship to the respondent and his family if removal occurs, service 
in this country's armed forces, a history of employment, the existence of property or business 
ties, evidence of value and service to the community, proof of genuine rehabilitation if a criminal 
record exists, and other evidence attesting to a respondent's good character. Id. Adverse factors 
include the nature and underlying circumstances of the grounds of removal that are at issue, the 
presence of additional significant violations of this country's immigration laws, the existence of a 
criminal record and, if so, its nature, recency, and seriousness, and the presence of other evidence 
indicative of a respondent's bad character or undesirability as a permanent resident of this 
country. Id. 

The Immigration Judge weighed the respondent's criminal history against his positive 
equities and decided to grant cancellation of removal (I.J. at 4-7). The Immigration Judge found 
that the respondent's credible testimony demonstrated that his positive equities include the 
respondent's family ties (i.e., he lives with his mother, a United States citizen), his lengthy 
residence in the United States (i.e., he has been a lawful permanent resident for over 14 years), 
hardship his removal would cause his family (i.e., his mother who has had a kidney transplant 

( ... continued) 
basis of one alternative as opposed to the other, then the statute is not divisible in the sense 
required to justify invocation of the modified categorical approach."). 
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and is unable to work), his positive work history and filing of income taxes, that he performs 
community service and attends a church on a regular basis, and that he does not have any family 
members in his home country of Venezuela. 

We have no wish to minimize the seriousness of the respondent's criminal record. It includes 
convictions for obtaining property by false pretenses and for possessing cocaine. The respondent 
was sentenced to 44 to 62 months' imprisonment for the drug conviction. We agree, however, 
with the Immigration Judge's assessment that the respondent's serious criminal history is offset 
by his strong equities and rehabilitation, since he has taken responsibility for the offense and 
provided assistance to the government. 5 

We find this is a close case, but in balancing the respondent's adverse factors against his 
positive equities, we conclude that one final chance to remain with his family is warranted in this 
case. See Matter ofC-V-T-, 22 I&N Dec. 7 (BIA 1988); see also section 240A(c)(6) of the Act 
(providing that cancellation of removal can only be granted once). The DHS's appeal will be 
dismissed, and the record will be remanded to allow DHS to perform the necessary background 
investigation. The following orders shall be issued. 

ORDER: The DHS's appeal is dismissed. 

FURTHER ORDER: Pursuant to 8 C.F.R. § 1003.l(d)(6), the record is remanded to the 
Immigration Judge for the purpose of allowing the Department of Homeland Security the 
opportunity to complete or update identity, law enforcement, or security investigations or 
examinations, and further proceedings, if necessary, and for the entry of an order as provided by 
8 C.F.R. § 1003.47(h). 

Board Member Roger A. Pauley respectfully dissents and would deny cancellation of 
removal in the exercise of discretion in light of the respondent's serious criminal record. 

5 We are not persuaded by DHS's assertion that Matter of Y-L-, A-G-, & R-S-R-, 23 I&N 
Dec. 270 (A.G. 2002), informs the instant analysis, especially given that we agree with the 
Immigration Judge that the conviction was not an illicit trafficking aggravated felony and, 
moreover, that the respondent's eligibility for withholding of removal is not at issue. 
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